IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re A. N.,

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

A. N.,

Defendant and Appellant.

S242494

Ct. App. 2/6 B275914 (Ventura County Super. Ct. No. 2015040294)

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 18 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TODD W. HOWETH, Public Defender By William M. Quest, Senior Deputy Defender SBN 191461 800 S. Victoria Avenue, HOJ-207 Ventura, California 93009 (805) 654-3032 writsandappeals@ventura.org Attorney for Defendant and Appellant A. N.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re A. 1	V.,
THE PEO	OPLE,
	Plaintiff and Respondent,
	v.
A. N.,	

Defendant and Appellant.

S242494

Issues Presented

Does the statutory scheme for juvenile school truancy prosecutions require the utilization of the School Attendance Review Board, or a similar type of truancy mediation, as a condition precedent before a juvenile prosecution?

Second, is Education Code section 48264.5, to be interpreted in conjunction with Welfare and Institutions Code section 601, subdivision (b), and if so, does section 48264.5 require the issuance of a fourth truancy report before a juvenile court is vested with jurisdiction?

Facts and Procedural History

In the 2015-2016 school year, appellant was enrolled in the 9th grade of Hueneme High School in Oxnard, California. A.N. had a difficult 8th grade, during which time she engaged in self-mutilation due to a custody situation in her home involving a very young nephew, Daniel. (CT: 72.) A. N.'s problems continued into 9th grade and she either came to school late or missed classes. Her tardiness and or absences resulted in a computer-generated school notification of truancy on October 6, 2015,

which documented four unexplained absences/tardiness. (*In re A. N.* (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th at pp. 406-407.) A second notification of truancy was mailed October 13, 2015, which listed five subsequent unexplained absences and/or tardiness. (*Ibid.*)

A third letter was sent on December 15, 2015. In addition to documenting the days that A. N. was either tardy or absent on ten occasions, the letter stated that A. N. was now classified as an habitual truant pursuant to Education Code, section 48262¹, and that she was being referred to the School Attendance Review Board (herein, SARB). (*Ibid.*; CT: 84.)

On December 12, 2015 - three days before the third notification letter was mailed - an Oxnard Police Officer issued A. N. a misdemeanor citation at her residence for an alleged section 48262 violation. (CT: 2.) On December 31, 2015 - *prior to A. N. appearing before the SARB* - the prosecution filed a petition against A. N. for being habitually truant. (CT: 1.) The petition specifically alleged that on or about December 12, A. N. was in violation of section 48262 due to her failure to "respond to the directives of a school attendance review board, or to services provided." (*Ibid.*) The petition contended that the juvenile court was vested with jurisdiction under Welfare and Institutions Code section 601, subdivision (b).² (*Ibid.*) On January 5, 2016, the juvenile court issued a letter requesting that she appear for a court hearing on the petition on February 5, 2016. (CT: 3-4.)

On January 12, 2016, A. N. attended a SARB hearing. At the conclusion of the hearing, she signed a contract wherein she agreed to attend school regularly and be on time. Further, A. N.'s mother was directed to contact the school about all absences and provide doctor reports for any illnesses. (CT: 90.)

On May 6, 2016, the trial court sustained the petition. (1RT: 134-135.) The court concluded that the three letters sent to A. N. documented 19 unexplained absences or tardiness and that satisfied the prerequisites to sustain the petition. (*Ibid.*).

¹ All statutory references are to the Education Code unless otherwise specified.

² Referred to herein as W&I 601(b) for ease of reading.

Appellant timely appealed to Division Six of the Second District. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's exercise of jurisdiction. The opinion stated: "The juvenile court properly exercised jurisdiction here. The first notice of truancy lists four of A. N.'s unexcused absences - one more than required under section 48260. The second notice lists an additional five - four more than required under section 48261. The third lists an additional 10 - nine more than required under section 48262." The opinion held that the number of truancies exceeded "the four truancy threshold that vests jurisdiction in the juvenile court." (*In re A. N., supra,* 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 407.)

The decision specifically rejected the notion that "failing to respond to a SARB directive is a prerequisite to juvenile court intervention." (*Ibid.*) Instead, the court reasoned that section 48264.5, subdivision (d), and W&I 601(b), do not require SARBs to take specific steps before commencing a juvenile truancy prosecution. (*Ibid.*) The court posited that the Legislature intended the juvenile court to have flexibility in exercising jurisdiction over truancy.

The court also denied that this Court required the use of a SARB as a condition precedent to the juvenile court intervention. "While the court in *In re Michael G.* (Citations omitted) noted the Legislature's move toward the use of SARBs as a 'condition precedent to the juvenile court's intervention,' its holding did not turn on the use or nonuse of the SARB process. (Citations omitted.)" (*In re A. N., supra,* 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 407.)

Last, the opinion rejected the claim that a fourth truancy report must issue before the juvenile court can assert jurisdiction over truancy. (*Id.*, at p. 408.) The court concluded that when the Legislature amended section 48264.5 in 2012, it intentionally omitted the word "report" in 48264.5, subdivision (d). Therefore, there is not a requirement that a fourth truancy report be issued. (*Ibid.*)

A. N. filed a timely petition for review to this Court and on July 19, 2017, review was granted.

Memorandum of points and authorities

I.

The statutory truancy scheme intends that the use of a SARB, or a similar type of truancy mediation, be a condition precedent before court intervention.

The opinion below held that the "SARB process is not a prerequisite to juvenile court intervention." (*Ibid.*) That holding misconstrues the truancy statutory scheme and contradicts this Court's decision in *In re Michael G.* (1988) 44 Cal.3d. 283.

In 1975, the Legislature enacted W&I 601(b). As enacted, the statute provided: "If a school attendance review board determines that the available public and private services are insufficient or inappropriate to correct the habitual truancy of the minor, or to correct the minor's persistent or habitual refusal to obey the reasonable and proper orders or directions of school authorities, or if the minor fails to respond to directives of a school attendance review board or to services provided, the minor is then within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court which may adjudge such a person to be a ward of the court. . . ." (Stats. 1975, ch. 192, § 1; ch. 1183, § 2.)

In 1994, the Legislature amended W&I 601(b). (Stats. 1994, ch. 1023, § 6; SB 1728.) As amended, the statute read: "If a minor has four or more truancies within one school year as defined in Section 48260 of the Education Code, or a school attendance review board or probation officer determines that the available public and private services are insufficient or inappropriate to correct the habitual truancy of the minor, or to correct the minor's persistent or habitual refusal to obey the reasonable and proper orders or directions of school authorities, or if the minor fails to respond to directive of a school attendance review board or probation officer or to services provided, the minor is then within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court which may adjudge the minor to be a ward of the court." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 601, subd. (b).)³

³ W&I 601(b) was last amended in 2014. The 2014 amendments are not relevant to this appeal.

The primary change from the 1994 amendments was the addition of the language of "four or more truancies" as defined in section 48260. (*Ibid.*) The opinion below interpreted W&I 601(b) to now confer jurisdiction on the juvenile court when (1) the student has four or more truancies within one year; (2) the SARB determines that available resources are insufficient or inappropriate; or (3) the student fails to respond to SARB directives. (*In re A. N., supra,* 11 Cal.App.5th at 407.) Appellant contends the opinion erred by holding that a juvenile court is vested with jurisdiction when a student has four truancies without any use of SARB.

Under well-established principles of statutory construction, if the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, the court must follow the plain meaning. (*People v. Canty* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1276 (*Canty*).) A reviewing court must look at a statute in the context of the overall statutory scheme and not simply in isolation. "Every statute should be construed with reference to the whole system of law of which it is a part so that all may be harmonized and have effect. [Citations omitted.]" (*Landrum v. Superior Court* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 1, 14.) Put another way, "statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible." (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.) "If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation," courts may consider various "extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part." (*Wilcox v. Birtwhistle* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 973, 977.)

Appellant contends that the language of the four truancies in W&I 601(b) cannot be read in isolation but must be harmonized with the Education Code sections⁴ that were amended by the same Legislation that amended W&I 601(b), and most importantly, with section 48264.5, which was specifically enacted in conjunction with the amendment to W&I 601(b). (Stats. 1994, ch. 1023 § 4 (SB 1728).) In sum, the four

⁴ Senate Bill 1728 amended sections 48260, 48260.5, and 48264, and added section 48264.5. The bill also amended Welf. & Inst. Code, sections 601 and 601.2, and repealed section 601.1. Last, the bill amended Vehicle Code, section 13202.7.

truancies in W&I 601(b) track the language of 48264.5, which prescribes the consequences of truancy. W&I 601(b) is not a stand-alone basis of jurisdiction separate from the truancy statutory scheme commencing with section 48260 and culminating with section 48264.5. The legislative history of the statutory truancy scheme and the public policy goal to reduce truancy support this interpretation.

Section 48260, subdivision (a), provides: "[a] pupil subject to compulsory full-time education or to compulsory continuation education who is absent from school without a valid excuse three full days in one school year or tardy or absent for more than a 30-minute period during the school day without a valid excuse on three occasions . . . shall be classified as a truant and shall be reported to the attendance supervisor or the superintendent of the school district."

Next, section 48261 states that once a student has been reported as a truant, subsequent absences or tardiness will result in another truancy report. Section 48262 states that a pupil will be classified as a habitual truant with three or more truancy reports provided that a school district employee has made a conscientious effort to hold a conference with the parent or student. If the county has set up a School Attendance Review Board, the third truancy report may trigger a meeting with the SARB. (§ 48263.) Further, section 48263.5 authorizes SARB to notify the district attorney only after a pupil has been classified as a truant *and* the SARB has determined that, 1) available community services cannot resolve the truancy or insubordination, and 2) that the pupil or the parents have "failed to respond to directives of the school attendance review board or probation officer or to services provided." (See section 48263.5, subdivision (a)(1)(B).) If the district attorney does not participate in a truancy mediation, either SARB or probation may notify the juvenile court directly. (§ 48263.)

If a county has not established a SARB, the school district may notify the district attorney or probation if the available services cannot resolve the truancy or the pupil fails to respond to the district's directives, provided either the district attorney or probation has agreed to participate in a truancy mediation program. (See §§ 48263, 48260.6.)

The truancy statutory scheme is clear that after a pupil is designated a habitual truant upon the issuance of a third report, then the pupil is referred to SARB (see § 48263.5); or, if the county has not established SARB, the pupil is referred to the district attorney or probation if either has agreed to participate in a truancy mediation program (see § 48263); or, as a last resort, the school district conducts truancy mediation. (*Ibid.*, see also § 48264.5, subd. (c).)

Only after SARB or a similar type of truancy mediation determines that either community services are not available or the pupil fails to respond to the mediation directives is a truancy prosecution warranted.

The consequences for truancy as set forth in section 48264.5 support such an interpretation. The first truancy report may result in a meeting with the school to address the issue. (§ 48264.5, subd. (a).) The second truancy report may generate a warning by a peace officer that will remain in the pupil's school file. (§ 48264.5, subd. (b).) The third truancy report results in the pupil being classified a habitual truant and may require that a meeting occur between the pupil and SARB or another comparable truancy mediation. (§ 48264.5, subd. (c).) The fourth time a truancy report is generated, then and only then is the juvenile court vested with jurisdiction under W&I 601(b). (See § 48264.5, subd. (d).)

The interpretation that a fourth truancy report under the truancy statutory scheme can only occur after the utilization of SARB or similar type of truancy mediation is consistent with the legislative history of the relevant amendment to W&I 601(b). "Upon the 3rd truancy within the same year, the bill would provide the pupil be referred to and required to attend a school attendance review board, truancy mediation program, or a comparable program. This bill would provide that if a pupil who has attended certain programs including a school attendance review board has a 4th truancy in the same school year, the pupil . . . may be adjudged a ward of the court." (1994 Cal. Legis. Serv., ch. 1023 (SB 1728).) The analysis of SB 1728 by the Assembly Committee commented that, "[u]pon failure of the earlier steps to alleviate the truancy problems, the juvenile court may exert jurisdiction over the minor pupil." (CA B. An., S.B. 1728 Assem., Aug.

9, 1994, p. 3.) These earlier steps are the written warnings, the afterschool programs, and finally, the school attendance review board or equivalent programs. Only after those earlier steps were tried, and failed, did the legislature contemplate referral to a juvenile court, stating, "[c]ourt intervention is reserved until after other steps have failed, so as not to overburden already heavy court calendars until necessary." (*Ibid.*)

In sum, the legislation that both amended W&I 601(b) and enacted section 48264.5, created a statutory scheme that provided graduated consequences for continual truancy. The graduated consequences to the pupil were triggered by corresponding actions by the school district. The statutory scheme requires the school district to: 1) provide notice to the parent upon the initial classification of a truant (§ 48260.5); 2) engage in a "conscientious effort to hold at least one conference with a parent or guardian of the pupil and the pupil himself" before labeling a pupil a habitual truant (§ 48262); and (3) before issuing a fourth truancy report and possibly referring the pupil to the juvenile court, the pupil must be afforded a truancy mediation by SARB or a similar type of mediation (§§ 48263 & 48263.5.) The four truancies language in W&I 601(b) did not remove the school district or law enforcement's obligations before proceeding to the juvenile court.

The opinion therefore erred by interpreting "four truancies" to mean having accrued "six or more unexcused absences," without requiring the use of a SARB or a similar truancy mediation as a condition precedent. (*In re A.N., supra,* 11 Cal.App.5th at 406.) As the legislative history of SB 1728 makes clear, neither the amendment to W&I 601(b), nor section 48264.5, subdivision (d), intended to remove the mediation process before court intervention. The fact that section 48264.5, subdivision (c), authorizes rather than requires a referral to SARB upon the issuance of a third report does not remove truancy mediation as a condition precedent. Section 48264.5, subdivision (c), and section 48263 reflect the reality that not every county has established a SARB, therefore, requiring the use of SARB for those counties without a SARB would be futile. What is clear is that for a county with a SARB, like Ventura County, the use of the SARB is a

condition precedent. For a non-SARB county, a similar truancy mediation is a condition precedent.

An interpretation that SARB is a condition precedent is consistent with the legislative analysis of A.B. 2616, the legislation that amended section 48264.5 in 2012. (2011 Legis. Bill Hist. CA A.B. 2616, June 27, 2012.) The analysis first stated the current state of the law regarding the truancy statutory scheme. The statutory scheme "[authorizes a habitually truant pupil to be referred to a school attendance review board (SARB) or to the probation department for services. If the SARB or probation officer determines that available community services can resolve the problem, the pupil or pupil's parents shall be directed to make use of those services. If it is determined that services cannot solve the problem, or if the pupil and/or parent have failed to respond to directives, the SARB may notify the district attorney or probation officer. (Citations omitted.)" (*Id.* pg. 2.)

The opinion not only misinterpreted the truancy statutory scheme, but also glosses over the absence of any meaningful mediation in this case. The opinion states that after appellant was referred to the SARB, her behavior never changed and "[s]chool officials thus turned to the juvenile court in their continuing effort to compel A. N.'s attendance." (*In re A.N., supra*, 11 Cal.App.5th at 405.) That statement is inaccurate. A. N. was issued a citation to appear in juvenile court *before* the issuance of the third truancy report and the classification of A. N. as a habitual truant. (CT: 2.) The prosecution then followed the school's example of foregoing the use of the SARB and filed the W&I 601(b) petition before the SARB meeting. (CT: 1.) The December 31, 2015 petition alleged that A. N. failed to respond to the SARB directives on December 12, 2015, even though her meeting with the SARB did not occur until January 12, 2016. Contrary to the opinion, both the school district and the prosecution turned to the juvenile court before using SARB.

The utilization of a SARB or similar type of mediation as a precondition before a juvenile court is vested with jurisdiction is consistent with this Court's interpretation of the statutory scheme. In *In re Michael G.*, this Court explained the

difference between a juvenile court's authority to incarcerate juvenile contemnors - after the court properly found the juvenile a ward of the court - and the Legislature's limitation on the court having authority for truancy in the first place. The Court was clear that the legislation made the utilization of a SARB prior to any juvenile court intervention. "The Legislature's move towards utilizing the school attendance review boards as a *condition* precedent to the juvenile court's intervention is understandable and in keeping with legal commentary calling for greater participation of school and social welfare professionals, even to the exclusion of the juvenile court's jurisdiction." (*Id.*, at 290, emphasis added.) This Court added that the "most important overall change [to Welf. & Inst. Code, § 601, subd. (b)] was to require referral of truants to school attendance review boards before juvenile court intervention." (*Ibid.*)

The legislature is presumed to be aware of this Court's decision when it enacted section 48264.5 and amended W&I 601(b). (*People v. Weidert* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 844.) Further, section 48264.5, subdivision (c), states that only after "the pupil does not successfully complete the truancy mediation program or other similar program, the pupil shall be subject to subdivision (d)." An interpretation that W&I 601(b) provides juvenile court jurisdiction after only four truancies and without the use of a truancy mediation program renders section 48264.5, subdivisions (c) and (d), superfluous. This Court should avoid such an interpretation. (See *People v. Aguilar* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1023, 1037, [Courts should avoid "a reading that renders any part of a statute superfluous."].)

II.

The opinion erred by concluding that a fourth truancy report need not be issued before a juvenile court can assert jurisdiction under the 2012 amended Education Code section 48264.5.

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