### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re A.N., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law

Case No. S242494

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

i mintili and itespondent

v.

A.N.,

Defendant and Appellant.

FILED

NOV 1 7 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District, Case No. B275914 Ventura County Superior Court, Case No. 2015040294 The Honorable William R. Redmond, Commissioner

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
JANILL L. RICHARDS
Principal Deputy Solicitor General
CHRISTINA BULL ARNDT
Deputy Solicitor General
State Bar No. 175403

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

Appellant advances two arguments. First, she contends that a SARB meeting or truancy mediation must take place before there is juvenile court jurisdiction. (OBM 8-14.) Second, she contends that a fourth "truancy report" must be issued—as opposed to simply a fourth truancy occurring with the student's sixth absence—before the juvenile court has jurisdiction. (OBM 14-17.) By this, she appears to mean a notice issued to the student's parent, rather than a report of truancy made to the attendance supervisor or district superintendent. (See OBM 6 [referring to "third notification letter"].) She asserts that strong public policy and legislative intent support these two positions. (OBM 17-18.)

As discussed below, these arguments are without merit. A.N.'s juvenile court proceeding complied with both the letter and the intent of the Education and Welfare and Institutions Codes.

## I. A JUVENILE COURT PETITION CAN BE FILED BEFORE A SCHOOL ATTENDANCE REVIEW BOARD MEETING OR TRUANCY MEDIATION OCCURS

Appellant argues that a SARB or truancy mediation proceeding must have taken place before there can be any juvenile court jurisdiction or petition filed. (OBM 8.) She contends that the reference to "four or more truancies" in Welfare and Institutions Code section 601 "must be harmonized" with Education Code section 48264.5, which requires

graduated discretionary consequences for truancy, including the possibility of a SARB referral. (OBM 9.) Appellant contends that, under those graduated circumstances, "before issuing a fourth truancy report and possibly referring the pupil to the juvenile court, the pupil must be afforded a truancy mediation by SARB or a similar type of mediation." (OBM 12.)

Appellant is not quite correct. Where a SARB is available, the school must show the juvenile court that it has "undertaken" the steps contemplated by Education Code section 48264.5, including referral to a SARB, before the juvenile court hearing can begin. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 258, subd. (b).) But there is no requirement that this process be completed before the *petition* is filed. Rather, Welfare and Institutions Code section 601 provides three alternate paths to juvenile court jurisdiction: "If a minor has four or more truancies within one school year as defined in Section 48260 of the Education Code or a school attendance review board or probation officer determines that the available public and private services are insufficient or inappropriate to correct the habitual truancy of the minor . . . , or if the minor fails to respond to directives of a school attendance review board or probation officer or to services provided, the minor is then within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court which may adjudge the minor to be a ward of the court." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 601, subd. (b), italics added.) The language of section 601 is in the disjunctive, indicating that any one of these conditions is an independent path to juvenile court. Thus, under the Welfare & Institutions Code there is no requirement that the school district must have completed a SARB meeting prior to filing a juvenile court petition if the student has four or more truancies.

A reading of the relevant sections of the Education Code leads to the same conclusion. Section 48264.5 describes the structure of escalating discretionary responses to truancies. After three unexcused absences, when

the student is deemed truant, the school may meet with the parent. (§ 48264.5, subd. (a).) After another unexcused absence, which is another truancy under section 48261, the student may receive a written warning from a peace officer. (§ 48264.5, subd. (b).) And after the third truancy report, when the student is defined as a habitual truant, he or she may be referred to a SARB or a truancy mediation program or similar program. (§§ 48264.5, subd. (c), 48263.) The statute, which uses the word "may" at every stage, offers these programs as options for the truant and the school district, but it does not require them. Rather, it vests the school and the school district with discretion to address the student's needs based on the student's individual circumstances.

At the fourth truancy (sixth absence), the student may be within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court. (§ 48264.5, subd. (d).) The statute admits of no precondition for this consequence. It does not state that the student must first complete any program, such as a SARB or truancy mediation. Again, the statute uses the word "may," and therefore does not require anyone to initiate a juvenile court proceeding, but offers it as an option to the authorities who are trying to encourage the student's school attendance.

Thus, both Welfare and Institutions Code section 601 and Education Code section 48264.5 provide that after four truancies, a student may be subject to the juvenile court jurisdiction. After a juvenile court petition has been filed, the school must refer the student to a SARB—if the county or district has a SARB and such referral has not already occurred—before the juvenile court hearing may proceed. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 258, subd. (b).)

Appellant claims, however, that the SARB process must be *completed* before the juvenile court petition is filed at all. Appellant acknowledges that section 48264.5 does not express such a requirement, but explains that this is because not every county has a SARB. (OBM 12.) For counties that do not have a SARB, appellant maintains, truancy mediation is a condition

precedent to the filing of a juvenile petition. (OBM 13.) But the statute does not contain any mandatory language, for either SARBs or truancy mediation programs (the establishment of which is also discretionary), prior to the filing of a juvenile court petition.

Appellant contends that the legislative history of Welfare and Institutions Code section 601 and Education Code section 48264.5 compels a conclusion that the SARB process is required before a juvenile court petition can be filed. (OBM, pp. 11-13.) Because the statutory language is plain on its face, there is no reason to consult the legislative history. But, in any event, it suggests only that the Legislature contemplated a graduated system, with court-ordered remedies being a last report. Granted, some reports in the legislative history explain the progress of truancy discipline, including that the third step (SARB meeting) comes before the fourth step (juvenile court hearing). (*See ibid.*) And while this is generally true, it does not lead to the conclusion that a SARB meeting *must* occur before the juvenile court petition is even filed.

More to the point, the history of the Legislature's amendment of the Welfare and Institutions Code confirms that there are three independent paths to juvenile court jurisdiction, and that any minor with four truancies may be subject to the jurisdiction of a juvenile court before a SARB meeting. Notably, when the Legislature enacted Welfare and Institutions Code section 601, subdivision (b), in 1975, this was not the case: at that time, the statute provided that the student came within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court when the SARB could not provide sufficient services to correct the truancy, or the student failed to comply with the SARB's directives. (Stats. 1975, ch. 192, § 1.) Thus, at that time, the statute read as appellant would have it stand today—it would have been premature to file a petition before a SARB meeting. But in 1994, the Legislature amended section 601 and added the phrase at the beginning of the section providing

that "if a minor has four or more truancies within one school year," the minor could be declared a ward of the court, thus adding a third route to juvenile court jurisdiction that did not require a preceding SARB meeting. (Stats. 1994, ch. 1023, § 4.) Thus, the Legislature amended the statute *away* from the interpretation appellant advances here. Appellant would have this Court rewind the clock twenty years and simply ignore that legislative amendment.

In 2014, the Legislature revisited the truancy statutes and enacted Welfare and Institutions Code section 258, which states that before the juvenile court *hearing* can commence, the school must have used the SARB process (if there is a SARB). But the Legislature did not amend section 601 to change the trigger for filing a juvenile court *petition*, which may be filed after four truancies. And, that order of events is what happened in this case: after well more than four truancies, the juvenile court petition was filed, and the SARB process was completed before the juvenile court hearing began. (See RT 135.)

Appellant contends that this Court's decision thirty years ago in *In re Michael G.* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 283 confirms its position that the SARB process must proceed before the juvenile court petition can be filed. But *Michael G.* is not particularly helpful because it was decided under the prior statutory scheme. That case addressed whether a minor who was a ward of the juvenile court due to truancy could be punished by confinement in a secure facility when he willfully disobeyed a court order to attend school. (*Id.* at p. 287.) In explaining the development of truancy law, the Court stated that Welfare and Institutions Code section 601 had been amended "in ways not material to our present inquiry" over the years, and the "most important overall change was to require referral of truants to school attendance review boards before juvenile court intervention." (*Id.* at p. 290.) Appellant reads this language to mean that the SARB must act

before any juvenile petition is filed. This arguably would have been a reasonable interpretation of section 601 when *Michael G.* was decided. But, as explained above, the Legislature amended the code in 1994 to provide that the juvenile court had jurisdiction after four truancies. So *Michael G.*, which interprets an earlier statute, does not shed light on the case before the Court now.

Here, the juvenile court petition was filed before the SARB meeting was conducted. Because A.N. had more than four truancies, this was an appropriate exercise of juvenile court jurisdiction. But, consistent with section 258, A.N.'s juvenile court hearing did not commence until after she met with the SARB. At the SARB meeting, the fact that A.N. had a court date approaching was discussed. (CT 87, 90.) Because the juvenile court properly exercised its jurisdiction, the decision should be affirmed.

## II. THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT A NOTICE OF A FOURTH TRUANCY BE SENT TO THE STUDENT'S PARENTS BEFORE A JUVENILE COURT HEARING MAY PROCEED

Appellant contends that there must be a fourth truancy "report" before the juvenile court may assume jurisdiction. (OBM, pp. 14-17 [proposing an extra-textual interpretation of § 48264.5, subd. (d), which provides that "[t]he fourth time a truancy is issued ... the pupil may be within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court ...."].) Although this argument suggests that there was no fourth truancy report here, this is not the case.

The Education Code provides that a school is obligated to report every truancy to relevant education officials. After three unexcused absences, a student "shall be classified as a truant and shall be reported to the attendance supervisor or to the superintendent of the school district." (§ 48260.) If the student is again absent from school, he or she "shall again be reported as a truant to the attendance supervisor or the superintendent." (§ 48261.)

Here, A.N.'s absences were entered in a computer database and immediately reported to the attendance supervisor and the school district. (RT 56, 58.) The attendance adviser at her school was able to see every time that she was absent as those absences occurred, and was able to take action accordingly. (RT 55, 62, 83-85.) Therefore, the computer system automatically complied with any reporting requirement, and assured that A.N.'s absences were documented and that every truancy was reported.<sup>6</sup>

Appellant stresses, however, that there were only three letters sent home to A.N.'s parents. (OBM, p. 6; see also *In re A.N.*, *supra*, 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 406.) Thus, appellant's argument may rest on a misapprehension that the "truancy reports" in section 48264.5 are parental notifications as opposed to internal reports, and that a fourth parental notification was required before a juvenile court petition could be filed. There is no such requirement.

The word "report" is used in the truancy statutes to refer to the report to the attendance supervisor or superintendent. The communication with the parents after the first truancy, on the other hand, is a notification. (§ 48260.5.) It is not referred to as a "report" anywhere in the statute. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The People note that section 48264.5—which sets out the discretionary graduated consequences for truancy—refers to internal reports, but only for the first three truancies (subdivisions (a)-(c)), and not for the fourth (subdivision (d)), which leads to juvenile court jurisdiction. A case may be made that Legislature intentionally made a distinction between the first three times a student is truant (where reports may assist the school in taking various internal actions) and the fourth (where referral to the juvenile court is the only remaining option). It is also possible that this omission reflects a drafting error and the Legislature in subdivision (d) intended to refer to a truancy report being issued. Because a fourth report was issued in this case, and because the juvenile court had jurisdiction under Welfare and Institutions Code section 601, the Court need not resolve whether section 48264.5, subdivision (d) contemplates a report for a fourth truancy.

notification after the first truancy must use "the most cost-effective method possible," which could be "electronic mail or a telephone call." (*Ibid.*) That initial communication is the only point at which the school is required to notify a parent of the child's truancies. While there are other times that the school is required to "ma[k]e a conscientious effort to hold at least one conference with a parent" (§ 48262, before deeming student a habitual truant) or the school may request the parent "to attend a meeting" (§ 48264.5, subd. (a), at first truancy report), neither of these circumstances is a reporting requirement, where the school is providing information to a parent. Rather, they are efforts to engage the parent in a dialogue about how to solve the student's truancy problem. The three letters or notifications sent to A.N.'s home reflect these efforts.

In any event, even if the school had not complied with any reporting procedures for the fourth truancy, that failure would not affect the juvenile court's jurisdiction. Welfare and Institutions Code section 601, subdivision (b), which addresses juvenile court jurisdiction over truants, says nothing about reporting requirements. It states that "four or more truancies within one school year" is a predicate to juvenile court jurisdiction.

Under the facts of this case, the juvenile court had jurisdiction.

## III. ALLOWING A JUVENILE COURT PETITION TO BE FILED AFTER FOUR TRUANCIES, BUT BEFORE A SARB HEARING OCCURS, SERVES IMPORTANT PUBLIC POLICY

As discussed above, the Education Code and Welfare and Institutions Code state that after four truancies, a juvenile court petition may be filed to address the student's truancy. But this does not indicate an inappropriate rush to juvenile court. Juvenile court intervention is only one option available to the school district and student in order to address the truancy. It is not the primary response, and it is usually a last resort. As a practical matter, the school district has many resources to try to encourage the

student's attendance before proceeding to juvenile court. The school may meet with the parents, issue a written warning, enlist the help of teachers and counselors, request attendance at a SARB, and refer the student to tutors, health professionals, or social workers. But the decision of how to address any individual student's truancy is vested firmly in the discretion of the school and the school district. The school, which knows the student and is in the best position to understand the student's circumstances, is also in the best position to make decisions about how best to encourage the student's school attendance.

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